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Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2 provides

 Notice To The Defendant. A court shall not enter a judgment of forfeiture in a criminal proceeding unless the indictment or information contains notice to the defendant that the government will seek the forfeiture of property as part of any sentence in accordance with the applicable statute.

*  *  *  *  *  *

 Upon a party’s request in a case in which a jury returns a verdict of guilty, the jury shall determine whether the government has established the requisite nexus between the property and the offense committed by the defendant.

18 U.S.C. § 982, entitled “Criminal Forfeiture,” is a general statute that provides for the forfeiture of property interests as a part of the sentence for a variety of offenses enumerated in the several subsections of the statute. The definition of the nexus that must be shown to exist between the offense and the property as a prerequisite to forfeiture differs slightly from one subsection to the next:

982 “involved in such offense”
“traceable to such property”

982 “constituting or derived from proceeds… obtained directly or indirectly as the result”

982 “which represents or is traceable to the gross receipts obtained directly or indirectly as a result”

982 “obtained directly or indirectly, as a result”

982 “which represents or is traceable to the gross receipts obtained directly or indirectly as a result”

982 “any conveyance… vessel, vehicle or aircraft used” or “constitutes or is derived from or is traceable to proceeds obtained directly or indirectly from” or “is used to facilitate”

982 “constitutes or is derived directly or indirectly from gross proceeds traceable to”

982 “used to facilitate” or “constituting, derived from or traceable to”

Extreme care must be taken, therefore, in adapting and tailoring elements of proof as stated in this instruction to the standards stated in the specific subsection of § 982 applicable to the case.

18 U.S.C. § 1963 (RICO) provides:

Whoever violates any provision of section 1962 of this chapter… shall forfeit to the United States  any interest the person has acquired or maintained in violation of section 1962;  any interest in; security of; claim against; or property or contractual right of any kind affording a source of influence over any enterprise which the person has established, operated, controlled, conducted, or participated in the conduct of, in violation of section 1962; and  any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds which the person obtained, directly or indirectly, from racketeering activity… in violation of section 1962.

18 U.S.C. § 2253 (Child Pornography) provides:

 Property subject to criminal forfeiture. - - A person who is convicted of an offense under this chapter [18 U.S.C.A. § 2251 et seq.] involving a visual depiction described in section 2251, 2251A, 2252, 2252A, or 2260 of this chapter, or who is convicted of an offense under section 2421, 2422, or 2423 of chapter 117 [18 U.S.C.A. § 2421 et seq.], shall forfeit to the United States such person’s interest in - -

 any visual depiction described in section 2251, 2251A, or 2252 of this chapter, or any book, magazine, periodical, film, videotape, or other matter which contains any such visual depiction, which was produced, transported, mailed, shipped or received in violation of this chapter;

 any property, real or personal, constituting or traceable to gross profits or other proceeds obtained from such offense; and

 any property, real or personal, used or intended to be used to commit or to promote the commission of such offense.

21 U.S.C. § 853 (Drug Offenses) provides:

Any person convicted of a violation of this subchapter of subchapter II of this chapter [21 U.S.C. §§ 951 et seq.] punishable by imprisonment for more than one year shall forfeit to the United States, irrespective of any provision of State law - -

 any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds the person obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation;

 any of the person’s property used, or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to commit, or to facilitate the commission of, such violation; and

 in the case of a person convicted of engaging in a continuing criminal enterprise [the defendant forfeits any interest in the enterprise itself]

With respect to the forfeitures under 18 U.S.C. § 982, the preponderance of the evidence standard applies. United States v. Cabeza, 258 F.3d 1256 (11th Cir. 2001) (holding also that the principle of Apprendi does not apply to forfeiture proceedings.)

With respect to the Government’s burden of proof under 18 U.S.C. § 1963 (RICO), the Eleventh Circuit has not squarely decided the issue. See United States v. Goldin Industries, Inc., 219 F.3d 1271, 1278 at note 10 (11th Cir. 2000) (“The government contends for the first time on appeal that the correct burden of proof is preponderance of the evidence rather than beyond a reasonable doubt. We have never decided this issue with respect to RICO’s forfeiture provision. We need not decide the issue here…”)

Other Circuits, however, have held that the beyond a reasonable doubt standard applies. See United States v. Pelullo, 14 F.3d 881, 906 (3d Cir. 1994) (holding that government, in a criminal forfeiture proceeding under 18 U.S.C. § 1963, must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the targeted property was derived from the defendant’s racketeering activity); United States v. Horak, 833 F.2d 1235, 1243 (7th Cir. 1987). See also United States v. Houlihan, 92 F.3d 1271, 1299 at note 33 (1st Cir. 1996) (affirming district court’s instruction that the government had the burden of proving entitlement to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1963 beyond a reasonable doubt, but noting that “the government may have conceded too much,” and that the question was open).

In United States v. Anderson, 782 F.2d 908, 918 (11th Cir. 1986), the Eleventh Circuit held that “[a] defendant’s conviction under the RICO statute subjects all of his interest in the enterprise to forfeiture ‘regardless of whether those assets were themselves “tainted” by use in connection with the racketeering activity.’”

With respect to forfeitures sought under 21 U.S.C. § 853, the Eleventh Circuit has held that the preponderance of the evidence standard applies. United States v. Elgersma, 971 F.2d 690, 697 (11th Cir. 1992) (en banc) (holding that the preponderance standard applies in § 853 forfeitures); United States v. Dicter, 198 F.3d 1284, 1289 (11th Cir. 1999) (the preponderance of the evidence standard governs forfeitures under § 853).

21 U.S.C. § 853 creates a rebuttable presumption that property is subject to forfeiture if the Government proves by a preponderance of the evidence that the drug offender  acquired the property during the period of time the offense of conviction was committed, or within a reasonable time thereafter, and  there was no likely source for such property other than the offense.

With respect to forfeiture proceedings under 18 U.S.C. § 2253, the statute (subsection ) requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt.
